FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/15/2021 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/15/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99436-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FORT DISCOVERY CORP., a Washington corporation; STEPHEN ANDERSON; STEVEN GILSTROM; and JAY TOWNE,

Petitioners,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY, a Washington municipality,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Greg Overstreet, WSBA No. 26628
Fort Discovery – Office of General Counsel
250 Center Park Way
Sequim, WA 98282
(800) 859-3463
greg@ssnwhq.com

Attorney for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioner Fort Discovery Corp. is the owner and putative operator of a shooting range in Jefferson County. Petitioner Stephen Anderson is a firearms instructor and employee of Fort Discovery. Petitioner Steven Gilstrom is a former law enforcement officer who wishes to shoot at a new range. Petitioner Jay Towne is a person who must periodically qualify on firearms for his profession and wishes to do so at a new range.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision of which Petitioners seek review is Fort Discovery Corp. v. Jefferson County, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030, 2020 WL 5413849 (2020), a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Second Amendment "range training right" recognized by the federal courts in the 2011-2017 *Ezell* line of cases ¹ protect a Washington citizen's right to shoot at a commercial range and

¹ See Ezell v. City of Chicago, 651 F.3d 684, 695 (7th Cir. 2011) ("Ezell I"); Ezell v. of Chicago, 846 F.3d 888, 890 (7th Cir. 2017) ("Ezell II").

require an intermediate scrutiny standard of review because the Second Amendment protections establish a "federal floor" of rights thereby setting the minimum standard of protections afforded by Wash. const. art. I, § 24?

- 2. If so, should this Court's ruling in *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d 145, 155, 312 P.3d 960 (2013) that "Firearms rights under [Wash. Const. art. I, § 24] are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power" be overruled because the "reasonableness" and "police power" standards of review are weaker than the federally-required intermediate standard from the *Ezell* line of cases?
- 3. If so, is Respondent Jefferson County's ordinance restricting the use of commercial shooting ranges unconstitutional under Wash. const. art. I, § 24?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners filed a declaratory judgment action in Clallam County Superior Court seeking to invalidate a Jefferson County ordinance severely restricting the construction and operation of a shooting range on state pre-emption (RCW 9.41.290), federal constitutional, and state constitutional grounds.² The trial court granted summary judgment to

² Petitioners seek review only of the state constitutional standard-of-review question. If the standard of review is ultimately determined to be intermediate scrutiny as Petitioners assert, they will then argue in the subsequent proceeding on the merits in this Court that the ordinance violates the intermediate scrutiny standard. Petitioners are not seeking review of the RCW 9.41.290 pre-emption or Second Amendment grounds because, while

Jefferson County. Petitioners appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division II. During the pendency of the appeal, Jefferson County repealed the ordinance at issue and adopted a substitute (and even more restrictive) ordinance. Petitioners moved for dismissal of the appeal on mootness grounds. The Court of Appeals denied the motion to dismiss and heard the appeal despite the fact that the ordinance at issue had been repealed.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling in an unpublished ruling. Jefferson County filed a motion to publish. The Court of Appeals denied the motion on December 18, 2020, a copy of which is attached as Appendix B. This timely Petition for Review followed.

The facts of the case are presented in the Court of Appeals opinion and are incorporated by reference herein. *See* Appendix A.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. This Court Should Accept Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)
 Because This Case Presents a Significant Question of Law
 Under the Constitution of the State of Washington
 - 1. The Current Standard Under Wash. art. I, § 24 for the Validity of a Restriction on Firearms is "Reasonableness" Pursuant to the State's "Police Power"

those claims are valid, in all candor they do not believe they meet the RAP 13(b) grounds for granting a petition for review.

In 2013, this Court held, "Firearms rights under [Wash. Const. art. I, § 24] are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power." *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d 145, 155, 312 P.3d 960 (2013) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). However, another passage of *Jorgenson* contradictorily holds that the standard of review is "intermediate scrutiny." *Id.* at 162. A very low standard like "reasonableness" and "police power" is inconsistent with a mid-level protection like intermediate scrutiny. This presents an internal inconsistency – and on a very important topic such as the constitutional standard of review. After all, the standard of review usually determines the outcome of a constitutional case.³

2. The Standard of Review Under the Second Amendment Is "Intermediate Scrutiny"

As will be analyzed further below, the Second Amendment sets the standard of review at intermediate scrutiny. *See Ezell II*, 846 F.3d at 893 (citing *Ezell I*, 651 F.3d at 708-709). In turn, this federal intermediate scrutiny standard sets the "federal floor" beneath which state

_

³ Todd J. Bruno, "Say What? Confusion in the Courts over What Is the Proper Standard of Review for Hearsay Rulings," 18 SUFFOLK J. TRIAL & APP. ADVOC. 1, 6 (2013) (concluding that standards of review are "more often than not, outcome-determinative"); 1 Steven A. Childress & Martha S. Davis, FEDERAL STANDARDS OF REVIEW § 1.02, at 1–16 (4th ed.2010) (pointing out that "the proper standard of review ... often turns out to be a vital issue on appeal"); Amanda Peters, "The Meaning, Measure, and Misuse of Standards of Review," 13 LEWIS & CLARK L. REV. 233, 241 (2009) ("[s]tandards of review doom any number of appeals from the start") (quoted source omitted).

constitutional protections may not go. *See State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 225 P.3d 995 (2010) (United States Supreme Court "application of the United States Constitution establishes a floor below which state courts cannot go to protect individual rights.") (referring to Second Amendment). This is the famous "one-way ratchet" of state and federal constitutional rights: with the federal right as the floor, state constitutions can be interpreted to be *more* protective of rights, but cannot be interpreted to be *less* protective than the federal constitution – like a ratchet that only goes in one direction.⁴

In sum, half of *Jorgenson* is correct (that the standard of review is intermediate scrutiny) but the inconsistency in it (that "reasonableness" and the "police power" are the standard) is not. This requires clarification from this Court.

This case gives the Court the opportunity to do so by holding that Wash. Const. art. I, § 24 requires at least intermediate scrutiny, not the mere "reasonableness" and "police power" test. This case presents the Court with the perfect evidentiary record to clarify the proper standard of

-

⁴ See generally William J. Brennan Jr., The Bill of Rights and the States: The Revival of State Constitutions as Guardians of Individual Rights, 61 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 535 (1986); Robert F. Utter, Freedom and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and the Washington Declaration of Rights, 7 U. PUGET SOUND L.Rev. 491, 499 (1984) ("Washington is one of many states that rely on their own constitutions to protect civil liberties. ... [T]he appellate courts of a majority of the states have interpreted their state constitutions to provide greater protection for individual rights than does the United States Constitution.").

review under Wash. Const. art. I, § 24. There are no contested factual issues; the case was resolved on cross-motions for summary judgment. Respondent Jefferson County moved to strike certain evidence, the trial court denied that motion, and Jefferson County did not appeal. Therefore, the entire record before the Court is admissible evidence for the Court to consider. Furthermore, this Court has a free hand to decide the case because this appeal of a trial court's grant of summary judgment is subject to de novo review. *See Express Scripts, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 167, 172, 437 P.3d 747, 749 (2019) (appellate court will "review summary judgment orders de novo, performing the same inquiry as the superior court.") (citation omitted).

- B. The Second Amendment Range Training Right and Intermediate Scrutiny Are the "Federal Floor" Minimum Standards
 - 1. The Range Training Right is a Corresponding Right of the Core Right to Self-Defense Guaranteed by the Second Amendment

Core constitutional rights often include more specific corresponding rights to carry out the core right. For example, the core First Amendment right to free speech comes with a corresponding right for the media to generally publish without fear of being sued for libel.⁵

⁵ New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964).

Like the First Amendment, the core Second Amendment right has corresponding ones.⁶ While individual self-defense is the core right protected by the Second Amendment,⁷ the range training right is a corresponding right:

The right to possess firearms for protection implies a corresponding right to acquire and maintain proficiency in their use; the core right wouldn't mean much without the training and practice that make it effective.

Ezell I, 651 F.3d at 704. See also Ezell II, 846 F.3d at 890 ("the Second Amendment protects the right to learn and practice firearm use in the controlled setting of a shooting range.").

That is, a person cannot effectively "bear" arms if they cannot maintain proficiency in their use. This bears (no pun intended) repeating because the Second Amendment range training right comes up so rarely that it is not intuitive: The right to "bear" arms necessarily includes the right to shoot at a range to maintain proficiency in firearms. "Bearing" arms does not just mean owning them; it also means practicing with them at a safe place like a shooting range. So restricting the right to practice with them is restricting the "bearing" of arms.

⁶ Courts use very similar analysis when analyze First Amendment and Second Amendment rights. *See Jackson v. City & County of San Francisco*, 746 F.3d 953, 960

^{(2014) (}determining Second Amendment protections "bears strong analogies to the Supreme Court's free-speech caselaw.") (citing *Ezell I*, 651 F.3d at 702-703).

⁷ *Dist. of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 599 (2008); *McDonald v. City of Chicago*,

⁷ Dist. of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 599 (2008); McDonald v. City of Chicag 561 U.S. 742, 787 (2010).

2. Two-Part Test for Determining Violation of the Second Amendment

Washington courts have adopted the Ninth Circuit's two-part test for determining whether an enactment violates the Second Amendment. *See Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle and Revolver Club*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 393, 414, 405 P.3d 1026 (2017), *review denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1015 (2018) ("*Kitsap Rifle*") (quoting *Silvester v. Harris*, 843 F.3d 816, 820-821 (9th Cir. 2016). That test is:

[F]irst, the court asks whether the challenged law burdens conduct protected by the Second Amendment; and if so, the court must then apply the appropriate level of scrutiny.

Id.

a. First Step of Test: Historical Analysis of Whether Second Amendment Protects Conduct at Issue

Kitsap Rifle held:

The threshold question under the Second Amendment analysis is whether [an ordinance restricting range training] burdens the right to bear arms. In general, this question involves a historical analysis of the Second Amendment right – whether the challenged law falls outside the historical scope of the right. [*Jackson v. City & County of San Francisco*, 746 F.3d 953, 960 (9th Cir. 2014), *cert. denied*, 135 S.Ct. 2799 (2015).] When state or local laws are challenged, the scope of the right to bear arms depends on how the right was understood when the Fourteenth Amendment was ratified. [*McDonald v. City of Chicago*, 561 U.S. 742, 746-747 (2010).]

Kitsap Rifle, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 414-415.

The Fourteenth Amendment was ratified in 1868 so this is the relevant date for determining whether a right was protected by the Second Amendment. *See McDonald*, 561 U.S. at 776.

The burden of proof is on the government to prove the activity at issue was not protected by the Second Amendment.⁸ The kinds of rights not historically protected by the Second Amendment are typically the obvious ones like preventing felons and the mentally ill from possessing firearms and carrying firearms in sensitive places like government buildings.⁹

i. In 1868 Range Training Was Not Restricted

In 1868 there were no restrictions on shooting ranges in Washington. (CP 358, 831-832). In fact, there were no shooting ranges in Washington; people just shot on their property or others'. The range training right existed in 1868.

⁸ Ezell I, 651 F.3d at 702-703 ("[I]f the government can establish that a challenged firearm law regulates activity falling outside the scope of the Second Amendment right as it was understood at the relevant historical moment – 1791 [for federal restrictions] or 1868 [for state or local restrictions] – then the analysis can stop there; the regulated activity is categorically unprotected, and the law is not subject to further Second Amendment review.") (emphasis added).

⁹ Heller, 544 U.S. at 626.

b. The Second Step: Determining the Appropriate Level of Scrutiny

The second inquiry involves which level of scrutiny to apply. *Kitsap Rifle*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 415. Rational basis review is not the standard to apply to the Second Amendment. *Id.* at 416 (citing *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 628 n. 27). Washington courts have adopted the Ninth Circuit "sliding scale" approach. *Kitsap Rifle*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 416 (quoting *Silvester*, 843 F.2d at 821). After applying the sliding scale approach, Washington courts have determined that a restriction on range training was subject to intermediate scrutiny under the Second Amendment. *Kitsap Rifle*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 417 (citing *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 161-162).

The intermediate scrutiny test is whether the restriction is "substantially related to an important government purpose." *Id.* at 417 (quoting *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 162).

C. Wash. Const.Art I, § 24 Protects the Range Training Right

1. The Right to Bear Arms is a Fundamental Right

Before discussing the details of Wash. const. art. I, § 24, it is important to highlight how important this Court has said the right to bear

¹⁰ While *Kitsap Rifle* correctly noted that rational basis review was not the proper standard for analyzing a Second Amendment right, *id.* at 416, that court went on to nonetheless speak of the Kitsap ordinance passing state constitutional muster because it was "reasonable." *Id.* at 418 (holding that Kitsap ordinance is a "reasonable regulation that does not violate article I, section 24.") However, the federal intermediate scrutiny standard – that more than mere rational basis review is required – is the floor beneath which an interpretation of the state constitution cannot go.

arms is. This Court has held that the right to bear arms in self-defense is a fundamental right. *Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d at 287 & 291.¹¹ This should be kept in mind when considering how much protection should be afforded this right.

2. Differences Between State and Federal Constitutional Rights to Bear Arms

Wash. Const. art I, § 24 provides in pertinent part, "The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired"

This differs from the text of the Second Amendment, which provides, "A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. amend. II.

Given these textual differences, "[T]he state and federal rights to bear arms have different contours and mandate separate interpretation." *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 153. But the fact that the federal constitution provides minimum protections should examined first because it impacts the protections that must be recognized in the state constitution.

¹¹ Sieyes was referring to the Second Amendment, but the same is true of Wash. Const. art. I, § 24 because the Second Amendment is the "federal floor" on rights. See id., 168 Wn.2d at 292.

3. The Federal "Floor" Establishes the Minimum Protections for a State Constitution

A different interpretation of Wash. Const. art I, § 24 does not mean the state constitution can provide weaker protections than the Second Amendment – quite the opposite, actually. The Second Amendment is incorporated by the Fourteenth Amendment against the states or their subdivisions to provide protection from them infringing on federal constitutional rights. *Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d at 291. This means the Second Amendment is a minimum "floor" for protecting the right to bear arms. *Id.* at 292 (United States Supreme Court "application of the United States Constitution establishes a floor below which state courts cannot go to protect individual rights.") (referring to Second Amendment).

It is important to remember what the federal floor is when it comes to the range training right: intermediate scrutiny. *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 161-162; *Kitsap Rifle*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 417 (Second Amendment requires intermediate scrutiny). Therefore, intermediate scrutiny is the *minimum* level of protection for the range training right under Wash. Const. art. I, § 24.

4. "Reasonableness" and the "Police Power" Are Not the Proper Standards for Wash. Const. art. I, § 24

Jorgenson applied what appears to be a hybrid of rational basis and intermediate review, with some "police power" mixed in. See id, 179

Wn.2d at 156 ("reasonable necessity" and "substantially related to legitimate ends" and firearms regulations are subject to "reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power."). This holding has been repeated in at least one subsequent case to find restrictions on the right to bear arms to be valid because they were merely reasonable or were thought to be proper exercises of the police power. *See Kitsap Rifle*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 418 ("Firearms rights under [Wash. Const. art. I, § 24] 'are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power.") (citing *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 155).

If by "reasonable regulation" *Jorgenson* and *Kitsap Rifle* meant rational basis review for the range training right under Wash. Const. art. I, § 24, then that is improper. This is because under the Second Amendment the range training right is subject to intermediate scrutiny, which is a higher standard than rational basis review, ¹² and Wash. Const. art. I, § 24

_

¹² Rational basis review is the lowest standard of review and merely "requires a court to uphold regulation so long as it bears a 'rational relationship' to a 'legitimate governmental purpose.'" *Ezell I*, 651 F.3d at Id. at 687-8 (citation omitted). Rational basis review is not the proper standard of review under the Second Amendment because:

If all that was required to overcome the right to keep and bear arms was a rational basis, the Second Amendment would be redundant with the separate constitutional prohibitions on irrational laws, and would have no effect.

Heller, 554 U.S. at 628, n. 27. The same would be true of Wash. Const. art. I, § 24: if all that was required was a rational basis, which is already required for all laws, then Wash. Const. art. I, § 24 would be superfluous and meaningless. So mere rational basis review cannot be the standard this Court applies to a right protected by the Wash. Const. art. I, § 24.

must be at least as protective as the Second Amendment; accordingly, rational basis review is too weak to be the Wash. Const. art. I, § 24 standard. *See Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d at 294-295 ("rational basis scrutiny" is "too low a standard to protect the right to bear arms.") (citation omitted).

The reasons why the police power, standing alone, is not a proper basis to validate a local enactment restricting the range training right was fully briefed in the trial court. *See* CP 47-48, 819-820.¹³

A probable explanation for the improper "reasonableness" and "police power" standard in *Jorgenson* is that it was decided in 2013, before the blossoming of the current wave of new Second Amendment jurisprudence.¹⁴

This case gives the Court a chance to address the *Jorgensen* "reasonableness" and "police power" standard and clarify that, instead of these two standards, intermediate scrutiny is actually the minimum standard of review for Wash. Const. art. I, § 24.

-

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