FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/11/2021 8:23 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 994366

From Washington Court of Appeals, Div. II No. 53245-0-II

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FORT DISCOVERY CORP., A WASHINGTON CORPORATION; STEPHEN ANDERSON; STEVEN GILSTROM; AND JAY TOWNE,

Petitioners,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY, A WASHINGTON MUNICIPALITY, Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES KENNEDY Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney

PHILIP C. HUNSUCKER, WSBA #48692 Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Port Townsend, WA 98368
Phone: (360) 385-9219 (Direct)

phunsucker@co.jefferson.wa.us

Attorneys for Respondent

# **

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

The ordinance has three minimum standards for public health and safety at commercial shooting facilities: (1) Deter unauthorized entry to any shooting range; (2) Keep all projectiles from leaving any shooting range or the commercial shooting facility; and, (3) Create no public nuisance. JCC 8.50.250.

JCC 8.50.230 requires an operating permit. JCC 8.50.230(1). The operating permit is based on an application, which includes, among other requirements: (1) A professional evaluation; (2) A safety component; (3) An operations component; (4) A sound suppression component; and, (5) An environmental health component. JCC 8.50.240(1). "The Professional Evaluation shall be the responsibility of the county under the direction of the director [of the county public health department's division of environmental public health] and shall be performed by a qualified shooting range evaluator." JCC 8.50.240(6)(a). "Qualified Shooting Range Evaluator' means a person who has been an NRA range technical team advisor or who is a professional engineer with expertise in the design of shooting ranges." JCC 8.50.220(41). The professional evaluation must discuss safety issues not addressed in the operating permit application and discuss any proposed uses that are inconsistent with the NRA Range Source Book. JCC <u>8.50.240</u>(6).

### C. The NRA Range Source Book Says Shooting Ranges Require Protection for the Safety of Both those Utilizing a Shooting Range and the General Public.

The NRA publishes a manual called "The Range Source Book." CP, 545-604. The purpose of the NRA Range Source Book is to provide "guidance to assist in the planning, design, construction and maintenance of shooting range facilities." CP, 547. "A shooting range should satisfy a number of goals, including the following: . . . reasonable accommodations for the safety of both those utilizing the range and the general public." *Id.* "A safety plan links each aspect of the process - planning, design, construction and use - into an integrated program. This program is designed to reduce risks associated with the use of firearms either on or off the range." CP, 599. Further, the plan "protects the safety and health of those who live nearby." *Id.* 

### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Hitting "the Refresh Button" Is Not Necessary.

Petitioners basis for review is their "suggestion" that "the Court 'hit the refresh button' on its holdings from before the maturing federal jurisprudence on the range training right and Second Amendment rights in general." Petition for Review, 14 n. 13. The Petition for Review makes clear that Petitioners believe the "holding" the court should "refresh" is the 2013 decision in *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d 145, 312 P.3d 960

(2013). But as the court of appeals pointed out,<sup>7</sup> *Jorgenson* was decided after the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *District of Columbia v. Heller*, which held for the first time that the Second Amendment included an individual right to possess guns for "self-defense in the home." *Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 636, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 2822, 171 L.Ed.2d 637, 684 (2008). *Jorgenson* also was decided after:

- The Supreme Court's 2010 decision in *McDonald v. City of Chicago*, which applied the holding of *Heller* to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *McDonald v. City of Chicago*, 561 U.S. 742, 744, 130 S. Ct. 3020, 3023, 177 L.Ed.2d 894, 901 (2010).
  - The Seventh Circuit's 2011 decision in *Ezell I* (2011), which adopted a two-step framework: "First, we ask whether the challenged law imposes a burden on conduct falling within the scope of the Second Amendment's guarantee. . . . If it does not, our inquiry is complete. If it does, we evaluate the law under some form of means-end scrutiny." *Ezell I*, 651 F.3d at 704. For a *prohibition* on range training (not the case with the Jefferson County ordinance), *Ezell I* applied a form of intermediate scrutiny.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Fort Discovery Corp. v. Jefferson County, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*21 (2020).

Ezell I, 651 F.3d at 708-09. ("The City must establish a close fit between the range ban and the actual public interests it serves, and also that the public's interests are strong enough to justify so substantial an encumbrance on individual Second Amendment rights.")

The Ninth Circuit's 2013 decision in U.S. v. Chovan, 735 F.3d 1127 (2013), which first held the Ninth Circuit would join the two-step framework for Second Amendment challenges adopted by the Seventh Circuit in Ezell I. U.S. v. Chovan, 735 F.3d 1127, 1136 (2013). This two-step framework had been adopted before Jorgenson by the First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Tenth and D.C. Circuits. United States v. Booker, 644 F.3d 12, 23-25 (1st Cir. 2011); Kachalsky v. Cty. of Westchester, 701 F.3d 81, 95-97 (2d Cir. 2012); United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 89 (3d Cir. 2010); United States v. Chester, 628 F.3d 673, 680-683 (4th Cir. 2010); United States v. Greeno, 679 F.3d 510, 518 (6th Cir. 2012); Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of Am., Inc. v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, & Explosives, 700 F.3d 185, 194 (5th Cir. 2012); United States v. Reese, 627 F.3d 792, 800-04 (10th Cir. 2010); and, Heller v. D.C., 670 F.3d 1244, 1252-53 (D.C. Cir. 2011).

By 2012—before *Jorgenson* was decided—the two-step framework had become the prevailing view. *Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of Am., Inc. v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, & Explosives*, 700 F.3d at 195. Petitioners point to no subsequent federal case that does not apply the two-step framework to the "range training right." Thus, Petitioners' claim that *Jorgenson* was decided "before the maturing federal jurisprudence on the range training right and Second Amendment rights in general" does not withstand scrutiny. Accordingly, the court should deny the petition.

# B. The Review Sought is Limited to the State Constitutional Standard-of-Review Question.

"Petitioners seek review *only* of the state constitutional standard-of-review question." Petition for Review, 2, n 2 (emphasis added). That Petitioners only are seeking review on the state constitutional issue is made clear by their further statement that they "are not seeking review of the RCW 9.41.290 pre-emption or Second Amendment grounds because, while those claims are valid, in all candor they do not believe they meet the RAP [13.4](b) grounds for granting a petition for review." Petition for Review, 2, n 2. And, whether a *Gunwall* analysis would result in "greater

protections" under Article I, Section 24 of the Washington Constitution than the Second Amendment also is not presented in the petition for review. Petition for Review, at 16-17. Because *Jorgenson*, *Kitsap Rifle* and the court of appeals' decision in this case all apply the long-standing constitutional reasonableness test, the petition for review should be denied.

# C. The Limited Review Sought by Petitioners Will Not Matter to the Petitioner's Attempt to Invalidate the Ordinance.

The limited review sought by Petitioners will not matter to their attempt to invalidate the Jefferson County ordinance. The ordinance already passed muster using a form of "intermediate scrutiny," when the court of appeals upheld Jefferson County's ordinance using the two-step analysis required by the Ninth Circuit for Second Amendment challenges. Fort Discovery Corp. v. Jefferson County, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*23-31 (2020). The court of appeals considered the Ezell cases, and then held:

- "[Petitioners] agree that ensuring safety at gun ranges is an important government purpose and this issue is not in dispute." *Fort Discovery*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*34.
- "But [Petitioners] argue, relying heavily on *Ezell*, that the County lacked sufficient 'empirical evidence' to establish that the restrictions imposed here were substantially related

to the important purpose of ensuring safety at commercial shooting facilities." *Fort Discovery*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*34-35.

"We disagree with the [Petitioners] and hold that the ordinance and the shooting after dark restriction are substantially related to the important government purpose of ensuring safety at commercial shooting facilities *and* withstand intermediate scrutiny." Fort Discovery, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*35 (emphasis added).

Petitioners admit this holding that the ordinance withstands intermediate scrutiny under the Second Amendment does not meet the requirements for discretionary review. Petition for Review, 2, n 2. Accordingly, the court should not grant review.

### D. Jorgenson Does Not Suffer "Internal Inconsistency."

After sifting through the Petition for review, it becomes clear that the Petitioner's complaint about *Jorgenson* boils down to the erroneous argument that *Jorgenson* has an "internal inconsistency." Petition for Review at 4 and 17. The petition for review claims to quote *Jorgenson* and says: "In 2013, this Court held, 'Firearms rights under [Wash. Const. art. I, § 24] are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power.' *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d 145, 155, 312 P.3d 960 (2013)

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted)." Petition for Review, 4. Then, Petitioners claim that "another passage of *Jorgenson contradictorily holds* that the standard of review is "intermediate scrutiny." *Id.* at 162." *Id.* (Emphasis added.) Finally, Petitioners present their *coupe de grace*:

A very low standard like "reasonableness" and "police power" is inconsistent with a mid-level protection like intermediate scrutiny. This presents *an internal inconsistency*—and on a very important topic such as the constitutional standard of review usually determines the outcome of a constitutional case.

*Id.* (Emphasis added.) But Petitioners' alleged "quote" from *Jorgenson* is both inaccurate and taken out of context. Quoted correctly and in context, *Jorgenson* says:

We have long held that the *firearm rights guaranteed by* the Washington Constitution are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power. State v. Krantz, 24 Wash.2d 350, 353, 164 P.2d 453 (1945); see also Montana, 129 Wash.2d at 593, 919 P.2d 1218; Morris, 118 Wn.2d at 144, 821 P.2d 482; State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 707 n. 9, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). Heller and McDonald left this police power largely intact. Heller explicitly recognized "presumptively lawful" firearm regulations, such as those banning felons and the mentally ill from possessing guns. 554 U.S. at 626-27 & n. 26, 128 S.Ct. 2783. And while *Heller* rejected the use of a "freestanding 'interest-balancing' approach" to determine the scope of Second Amendment rights, id. at 634, 128 S.Ct. 2783, we read Washington Constitution's provisions the independently of the Second Amendment pursuant to Gunwall.

Under this court's precedent, a constitutionally reasonable regulation is one that is "reasonably necessary to protect

public safety or welfare, and substantially related to legitimate ends sought." Montana, 129 Wash.2d at 594, 919 P.2d 1218 (citing State v. Spencer, 75 Wash.App. 118, 121, 876 P.2d 939 (1994); Second Amendment Found., 35 Wash.App. at 586–87, 668 P.2d 596). We "balanc[e] the public benefit from the regulation against the degree to which it frustrates the purpose of the constitutional provision." Id. The Court of Appeals applied this test to the statute at bar in State v. Spiers, 119 Wash.App. 85, 79 P.3d 30 (2003).

Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 155-56 (emphasis added). Thus, Jorgenson suffers no internal inconsistency. A regulation satisfies the test of constitutional reasonableness if it is "reasonably necessary to protect public safety or welfare, and substantially related to legitimate ends sought." Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 156, 312 P.3d at 964. The standard used in Jorgenson requires balancing the public benefit from the regulation against the degree to which it frustrates the purpose of the constitutional provision—to ensure self-defense or defense of state. Id. That is not the rational basis test, which requires only that "the law being challenged must rest upon a legitimate state objective, and the law must not be wholly irrelevant to achieving that objective." State v. Coria, 120 Wn.2d 156, 169, 839 P.2d 890, 898 (1992) (emphasis added). Neither is it "strict scrutiny," which requires that State's purpose must be compelling and the law must be narrowly tailored to accomplish that purpose. Coria, 120

Wn.2d at 169, 839 P.2d at 898; *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 294, 225 P.3d 995, 1004 (2010).

Similar to the test of constitutional reasonableness applied in *Jorgenson*, *Ezell I* also required "a fit between the legislature's ends and the means chosen to accomplish those ends, ... a fit that is not necessarily perfect, but reasonable; that represents not necessarily the single best disposition but one whose scope is in proportion to the interest served." *Ezell I*, 651 F.3d at 708. The Ninth Circuit described the test for Second Amendment analysis as: (1) The government's stated objective to be significant, substantial, or important; and, (2) A reasonable fit between the challenged regulation and the asserted objective. *Chovan*, 735 F.3d at 1139. This is the test of constitutional reasonableness—the same standard used by this court in *Jorgenson*.

The test of constitutional reasonableness was used to evaluate claims of unconstitutionality under Article I, Section 24 many years before *Jorgenson* was decided. *City of Seattle v. Montana*, 129 Wn.2d 583, 594, 919 P.2d 1218, 1224 (1996); *Morris v. Blaker*, 118 Wn.2d 133, 144, 821 P.2d 482, 488 (1992); *State v. Spiers*, 119 Wn.App. 85, 93, 79 P.3d 30, 34 (2003); *Second Amendment Found. v. City of Renton*, 35 Wn. App. 583, 586, 668 P.2d 596, 597 (1983). In this case, the court of appeals wisely declined to compare the test of constitutional reasonableness to the federal

tiers of scrutiny. Fort Discovery, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1030 \*23 (2020). The Supreme Court in Heller explicitly declined to establish a level of scrutiny for evaluating Second Amendment restrictions. State v. Sieyes, 168 Wn.2d 276, 294, 225 P.3d 995, 1004 (2010) (citing Heller, 128 S.Ct. at 2821.) Although courts have used various terminology to describe the "intermediate scrutiny" tier, all forms of the standard require: (1) the government's stated objective to be significant, substantial, or important; and, (2) a reasonable fit between the challenged regulation and the asserted objective. Chovan, 735 F.3d at 1139. Thus, the language of the test of constitutional reasonableness matters much more than what its label would be in the federal tiers of scrutiny.

The court of appeals followed the framework of its own published 2017 decision in *Kitsap Rifle*. *Kitsap Rifle*, which evaluated whether regulation of a shooting range violates Article I, Section 24 of the Washington Constitution. Review of *Kitsap Rifle* was sought—and denied by this court. *Kitsap Rifle*, 190 Wn.2d 1015, 415 P.3d 1198 (2018). *Kitsap Rifle* applied the test of constitutional reasonableness to evaluate whether regulations violate Article I, Section 24 of the Washington Constitution to uphold similar the Kitsap County firearms operating permit ordinance:

Firearm Rights under article I, section 24 of the Washington Constitution "are subject to reasonable regulation pursuant to the State's police power."

Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 155. a firearm regulation is reasonable if it is "reasonably necessary to protect public safety or welfare, and substantially related to legitimate ends sought." Id. at 156 (quoting Montana, 129 Wn.2d at 594). courts balance "the public benefit from the regulation against the degree to which it frustrates the purpose of the constitutional provision." Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 156 (quoting Montana, 129 Wn.2d at 594). We first consider the regulation's public benefit and then determine whether the regulation "unduly frustrates" the purpose of article I, section 24. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 157.

Kitsap Rifle, 1 Wn.App.2d 393, 418, 405 P.3d 1026, 1038 (2017) (emphasis added). Thus, the standard for evaluation of regulation of shooting ranges under Article I, Section 24 of the Washington Constitution has been clearly stated in both Kitsap Rifle and the court of appeals decision in this case. This is the long-standing test of constitutional reasonableness. Accordingly, review should be denied.

## IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The court should pass on Petitioners' invitation to "hit the refresh button" and should deny the petition for review.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 11th day of February 2021.

JAMES M. KENNEDY, PROSECUTING ATTORNEY FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY

By: O. C. Humler

Philip C. Hunsucker, WSBA #48692

# Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent